FILED 4-11-16 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 73720-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KEVIN INGALLS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The deputy prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument by urging the jury to consider matters stricken from the record.
- 2. The deputy prosecutor committed misconduct by shifting the burden of proof and commenting on the defendant's right to silence.
- 3. The trial court erred by failing to properly instruct the jury concerning matters stricken from the record.

B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. The State's duty to ensure a fair trial precludes a deputy prosecutor from employing improper argument and tactics during trial. Where the deputy prosecutor flagrantly encouraged jurors to consider evidence stricken from the record and undermined the right to silence and the burden of proof, did this constitute misconduct requiring reversal?
- 2. A trial court may supply supplemental instructions to a deliberating jury, as long as the result is not misleading, confusing, or prejudicial. On the whole, the court's instructions must make the relevant law manifestly apparent. Here, the jury requested clarification regarding the sole witness's testimony, some of which was stricken specifically the out-of-court identification of Mr. Ingalls. Should the trial court have re-instructed the jury using the court's previous curative

instruction, as Mr. Ingalls requested, and does the court's refusal to do so require reversal?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual Background

On November 21, 2013, Washington State Trooper James Ramey was on patrol in Snohomish County. RP 40-42. Wearing his standard State Patrol uniform and driving a marked patrol vehicle, Officer Ramey received a radio report that the driver of a gold Ford Taurus was driving erratically on I-5. <u>Id</u>. at 41-42. Officer Ramey drove to the area in which this car had last been seen. <u>Id</u>.

After dispatch received a second call concerning the same driver, Officer Ramey saw the gold Taurus near the Lynnwood/Mill Creek area. RP 43. Officer Ramey took the car's license plate information and began to follow the Taurus in order to observe it. <u>Id</u>. He drove behind the car, observing it without lights or siren, for about a mile. <u>Id</u>. at 44-45. When the Taurus made a quick lane change, causing another car to apply the brakes, Officer Ramey activated his emergency lights and sirens. <u>Id</u>. at 46-47. The Taurus did not stop. <u>Id</u>.

Officer Ramey pursued the Taurus with lights and sirens, but the driver of the Taurus did not pull over. <u>Id</u>. at 47-51. Officer Ramey

stated that as drove alongside the Taurus for several minutes, he could see a white male with a baseball hat, driving and looking straight ahead. RP 50. Officer Ramey said the windows of the car were tinted, but that he could see the man's face. RP 51-52.

With speeds escalating to 100 miles per hour, the driver of the Taurus then reportedly traveled over to the HOV lane, drove onto the shoulder, crossed over the King County line, and almost hit two Department of Transportation (DOT) engineers who were parked on the shoulder. RP 57-58. The Taurus driver caused a minor collision with one vehicle when the back end of his car clipped the front of a Cadillac. RP 57.

The Taurus eventually exited I-5 at 175th St. and proceeded through a red light at that intersection at approximately 90 miles per hour. RP 58-60. At that point, Officer Ramey terminated pursuit and radioed to King County deputies to request assistance in locating the vehicle. RP 73.¹

¹ Apparently, Kevin Ingalls was located on some other date, at some other location; there is nothing in the trial record concerning his apprehension, nor that a positive identification was made by any of the witnesses, including Officer Ramey.

Trial Proceedings

Kevin Ingalls was eventually charged with attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, although the jury heard nothing about his arrest or apprehension. CP 131-32; RCW 46.61.024(1). The State also charged Mr. Ingalls with an endangering enhancement. CP 131; RP 6-7; RCW 9.9A 834 (one or more persons, other than the defendant or the pursuing officer, were threatened with physical injury or harm by the defendant's actions during the crime).

At trial, the State presented only one witness – Officer Ramey – who offered no admissible testimony concerning the investigation or arrest of Mr. Ingalls. RP 60-67. The State attempted to introduce testimony that the trooper identified Mr. Ingalls as the Taurus driver by using a Department of Licensing (DOL) photograph obtained from police and DOL databases; however, this evidence was stricken from the record, pursuant to Mr. Ingalls's sustained objection and motion to strike. RP 60-61, 67.

The court provided an oral curative instruction, directing the jury that any testimony suggesting that Officer Ramey received or saw information from the DOL that was specific to Mr. Ingalls was stricken and must be disregarded. RP 73.

Despite the trial court's clear ruling, the deputy prosecutor proceeded to insert precisely this stricken material into his closing argument three separate times, flagrantly ignoring the court's instruction.

RP 130 ("he looked at a photo" ... "identified him twice"), 142.

During jury deliberations, the jury sent out exactly one question: the jury asked which specific part of Officer Ramey's "procedure" they were permitted to consider. CP 117; RP 145. Mr. Ingalls requested the jury be provided the curative instruction once again, to clarify that all references to the DOL photograph had been stricken and could not be considered. RP 147-49. The court refused this request and merely instructed the jury to apply the instructions previously given, both oral and written. CP 117; RP 150-52.

Mr. Ingalls was found guilty as charged. CP 115-16.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. MR. INGALLS'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WAS VIOLATED BY PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.
 - a. Mr. Ingalls has the right to due process.

The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the right of every criminal defendant to a fair trial before an impartial jury.

U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV; Const. art. 1 §§ 3, 21, 22. The right to a fair trial includes the presumption of innocence. Estelle v. Williams, 425

U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976); State v. Crediford, 130 Wn.2d 747, 759, 927 P.2d P.2d 1129 (1996). The Fourteenth Amendment also "protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970).

The requirement that the government prove a criminal charge beyond a reasonable doubt – along with the right to a jury trial – has consistently played an important role in protecting the integrity of the American criminal justice system. <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296, 301-02, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2000); <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466, 476-77, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000).

b. Prosecutors have special duties which limit their advocacy.

A prosecutor's improper argument may deny a defendant his right to a fair trial, as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and by article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676-77, 297 P.3d 551 (2011). A prosecutor, as a quasi-judicial officer, has a duty to act impartially and to seek a verdict free from prejudice and based upon reason. State v. Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. 595, 598, 860 P.2d 420 (1993) (citing State v. Kroll, 87 Wn.2d 829, 835, 558

P.2d 173 (1976)). In <u>State v. Huson</u>, the Supreme Court noted the importance of impartiality on the part of the prosecution:

[The prosecutor] represents the state, and in the interest of justice must act impartially. His trial behavior must be worthy of the office, for his misconduct may deprive the defendant of a fair trial. Only a fair trial is a constitutional trial ... We do not condemn vigor, only its misuse ...

73 Wn.2d 660, 663, 440 P.2d 192 (1968), cert. denied, 393 U.S. 1096 (1969) (citation omitted); see also State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 147, 684 P.2d 699 (1984).

To determine whether prosecutorial comments constitute misconduct, the reviewing court must decide first whether such comments were improper, and if so, whether a "substantial likelihood" exists that the comments affected the jury." Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 145. The burden is on the defendant to show that the prosecutorial comments rose to the level of misconduct requiring a new trial. State v. Sith, 71 Wn. App. 14, 19, 856 P.2d 415 (1993).

c. The prosecutor engaged in misconduct, urging the jury to consider matters stricken from the record, thus denying Mr. Ingalls his right to a fair trial.

The trial court had earlier sustained Mr. Ingalls's objection to the testimony concerning Officer Ramey's use of the DOL database in his patrol car computer, in order to identify the suspect. RP 67. Importantly,

the trial court instructed the members of the jury that they could not consider any testimony concerning the out-of court identification of Mr. Ingalls by Officer Ramey. RP 67-73.²

Despite this curative instruction, the deputy prosecutor emphasized the stricken material during his closing argument -- not once, but three times -- in flagrant violation of the court's instruction. RP 130, 142. First, the prosecutor argued:

[Ramey] told you that after he terminated the pursuit, <u>he</u> <u>looked at a photo</u>, called the troopers down in Seattle to try to find him.

RP 129-30 (emphasis added).

This was precisely the testimony that had been stricken by the trial court in the court's curative instruction, stated below:

The testimony about the trooper's procedural steps shall stand. But to the extent that any testimony suggested that the trooper received or saw <u>information from the</u> <u>department of licensing specific to this defendant</u>, that testimony and information is stricken and the jury shall disregard.

RP 73 (emphasis added).

² The State elected not to call any witnesses other than Officer Ramey. RP 65-66. Mr. Ingalls objected to the testimony as hearsay and because it lacked proper foundation. RP 66.

Moments later, the prosecutor again emphasized the forbidden evidence, by arguing: "The person who had the opportunity to observe him identified him twice. He says yes." RP 130.

This second argument, once again, refers to Officer Ramey's use of the DOL photograph; the trial court unequivocally found the use of this evidence inadmissible and struck all references to "information from the department of licensing specific to this defendant" from the record. RP 73.

Again, during rebuttal, the deputy prosecutor argued the following:

I challenge you to remember what the testimony actually was about gathering of evidence, about what the trooper did. Remember what he did on the side of the road at 175th, what he testified to. Prior to calling up other troopers in King County to try to talk to the defendant, he was there looking at things. And that he's certain the defendant's the one.

RP 142 (emphasis added).

The prosecutor's argument in rebuttal clearly referred to Officer Ramey's stricken testimony about looking at the DOL photograph and other information from the database. RP 142 ("gathering of evidence ...looking at things").

Such arguments indicate an intentional and flagrant disregard for the trial court's prior rulings. This misconduct cannot be condoned. Due to the flagrant and ill-intentioned nature of the prosecutor's remarks, Mr. Ingalls may raise this misconduct for the first time on appeal. See State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (citing State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 726-27, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)) (error not deemed waived where prosecutorial misconduct is so flagrant and ill intentioned that it could not have been neutralized by a curative instruction); see also State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213, 921 P.2d 1076, rev. denied, 131 Wn.2d 1018 (1997); RAP 2.5(a).

Finally, the deputy prosecutor also shifted the burden of proof and impermissibly commented on the defendant's constitutional right to remain silent. RP 130. The prosecutor argued that the issue before the jury was the following: "It's whether the defendant did it. And the unrefuted testimony is, yes, of course he did." RP 130. By this argument, the prosecutor undermined a fundamental constitutional right and the cornerstone of the American legal tradition. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970) (defendant has no obligation to present evidence or to bear witness against himself). This flagrant violation of Mr. Ingalls's due process rights is raised for the

first time on appeal. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61; Fleming, 83 Wn. App. at 213; RAP 2.5(a).

d. Reversal is required.

The cumulative effect of these various instances of prosecutorial misconduct violated Mr. Ingalls's right to a fair trial. State v. Reeder, 46 Wn.2d 888, 893-94, 285 P.2d 884 (1955); State v. Torres, 16 Wn. App. 254, 262-63, 554 P.2d 1069 (1976). There is a substantial likelihood the cumulative effect of the prosecutor's misconduct in the closing argument affected the jury's verdict. We know this, due to the lack of evidence presented by the State (one witness); the length of time between the arrest and the in-court identification; and because the jury's question related directly to the misconduct. Accordingly, this Court should reverse. Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 146-47; Fleming, 83 Wn. App. at 214.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE AN APPROPRIATE SUPPLEMENTAL INSTRUCTION TO THE DELIBERATING JURY.

Shortly following the deputy prosecutor's comments concerning the DOL photograph on rebuttal, the then-deliberating jury sent out a question. CP 117; CP ___, sub. no. 58 at 7.³ The jury asked the following: "What specific part of Officer Ramey's testimony regarding

his procedure are we allowed to consider?" CP 117; RP 145. The jury was understandably confused. Although the court had indicated during the evidentiary phase that the testimony regarding the officer's use of the DOL database was stricken and not to be considered, the prosecutor drew on it heavily in closing argument.

Rather than respond to the jury's question as Mr. Ingalls requested -- to re-offer the curative instruction that the DOL evidence could not be considered -- the court issued a generic instruction that the jury was bound by the court's previous instructions. CP 117.

a. The trial court must clearly and accurately instruct the jury.

The purpose of jury instructions is to "furnish guidance to the jury in their deliberations, and to aid them in arriving at a proper verdict."

State v. Allen, 89 Wn.2d 651, 654, 574 P.2d 1182 (1978). Jury instructions must be "manifestly clear" because an ambiguous instruction that permits an erroneous interpretation of the law is improper. State v.

LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d 896, 902, 913 P.2d 369 (1996) (abrogated by State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)). Jurors should not have

³ The clerk's minutes indicate that the jury left the courtroom to begin deliberating at 10:16 a.m. CP ____, sub. no. 58 at 7. The time on the jury's question is 10:45 a.m. CP 117.

to speculate about what the law is. <u>State v. Byrd</u>, 72 Wn. App. 774, 780, 868 P.2d 158 (1994), <u>aff'd</u>, 125 Wn.2d 707 (1995).

The trial court may give further jury instructions after deliberations have begun, if the meaning of an original instruction is unclear and potentially misleading under the facts of a given case. State v. Ransom, 56 Wn. App. 712, 714, 785 P.2d 469 (1990); State v. Young, 48 Wn. App. 406, 415-17, 739 P.2d 1170 (1987). The adequacy of a challenged jury instruction is reviewed de novo. State v. Clausing, 147 Wn.2d 620, 626-27, 56 P.3d 550 (2002).

b. The trial court failed to accurately respond to the jury's request for clarification.

Here, the jury's confusion was undoubtedly due to the misconduct in the prosecutor's closing argument, which included three separate references to the stricken DOL evidence. RP 147-49, 130, 142. Mr. Ingalls requested the trial court instruct the jury that the DOL evidence – particularly the photograph of Mr. Ingalls – had been stricken from the record, and that the court provide its previous curative instruction. Id.

Although the trial court considered this request, the court ultimately failed to do so, instead giving a general supplemental instruction. CP 117 ("apply the instructions previously given, both oral and written"); RP 150-52. This generic instruction did not refresh the

recollection of the jurors as to the content of the court's prior oral ruling.

Nor did it clarify the conflict between the court's ruling striking the evidence and the State's closing argument, which repeatedly drew on the same evidence.

This Court has held that a trial court errs when its supplemental instructions fail to accurately and clearly address a deliberating jury's inquiry. Young, 48 Wn. App. at 417. In Young, the jury asked the court to define a legal term. Id. at 414-17. The court declined, responding that the jury must refer to the original instructions. Id. at 414. This Court reversed, noting that "implicit in the request is the fact the jury was confused," and that the court's refusal to answer the jury's question allowed them to "speculate" as to the answer. Id. at 417.

The trial court "has the responsibility to eliminate confusion when a jury asks for clarification of a particular issue." <u>United States v.</u>

<u>Southwell</u>, 432 F.3d 1050, 1053 (9th Cir. 2005). In <u>Southwell</u>, the Ninth Circuit discussed why referring jurors back to the original instructions is inadequate, when jurors express confusion:

[T]he instructions did not provide a clear answer-or any answer-to the question the jury asked; thus referring the jury back to the instructions did nothing to clear up the ambiguity. Failure to provide the jury with a clarifying instruction when it has identified a legitimate ambiguity in the original instructions is an abuse of discretion.

Southwell, 432 F.3d at 1053.

The error in this case was particularly serious, because it concerned an essential element of the sole charged crime – the identity of the driver. In Mr. Ingalls's case, since the driver absconded, there was no admissible evidence presented from the date of the incident that Mr. Ingalls was the driver of the Ford Taurus. The DOL evidence and the prior photo-identification by Officer Ramey had all been excluded and stricken from the record. RP 67; cf. State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 659, 790 P.2d 610 (1990) (testimony that is stricken does not remain in the court record).

When the jury inquired which portions of Officer Ramey's testimony it could consider, this could have easily been clarified by providing the curative instruction, as requested by Mr. Ingalls. RP 147-48. The jury's clear confusion over which evidence from Officer Ramey's "procedure" it could consider would have been allayed, had the jurors been reminded of the curative instruction -- "to the extent that any testimony suggested that the trooper received or saw any information from the department of licensing specific to this defendant, that testimony is stricken and the jury shall disregard." RP 73 (original curative instruction; emphasis added).

The State may argue that the jury was able to adequately remember the curative instruction, and thus, which portions of Officer Ramey's testimony were admissible, without further instruction.

However, the record reveals that not even the deputy prosecutor or the trial court were able to accurately recall which questions had been answered by Officer Ramey, and whether they had been answered before or after Mr. Ingalls's objection to the DOL evidence had been sustained.⁴ If the legal professionals in the courtroom were unable to recall the testimony and the rulings, only moments after they had occurred, it is not surprising that the jurors were confused. CP 117.

Moreover, any confusion during the evidentiary phase of the trial was only heightened by the prosecutor's repeated reference to the excluded evidence in closing. The jury question indicates the panel was confused by the DOL ruling, and that the original instructions were inadequate. See Young, 48 Wn. App. at 417 (implicit in a jury question

⁴ For example, following Mr. Ingalls's objection to the DOL evidence, the trial court mistakenly stated several times that the testimony concerning the photo identification was not yet before the jury, although it was. RP 69-71. The court later realized its mistake and struck the identification. RP 73. The prosecutor claimed to have no recollection of the question he had asked moments earlier. RP 66 ("I don't even remember what the question was in this area that was originally objected to."). The question regarded the verification of the identity of Mr. Ingalls. RP 61.

is the indication that the original instructions caused confusion and were insufficient).

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