FILED 6-10-16 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 73720-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OFTHE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

۷.

KEVIN E. INGALLS,

Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

KATHLEEN WEBBER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE PROSECUTOR PROPERLY ARGUED FROM THE EVIDENCE ADMITTED AND DID NOT SHIFT THE BURDEN OF PROOF.

The defendant alleges that the prosecutor committed error in closing argument by arguing facts not in evidence, by shifting the burden of proof, and by commenting on his right to remain silent.¹

¹ Although appellate courts have often used the term "prosecutorial misconduct," the Supreme Court has recognized that the term is "a misnomer when applied to mistakes made by the prosecutor during trial." State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 740 n. 1, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). Both the National District Attorneys Association (NDAA) and the American Bar Association's Criminal Justice Section (ABA) urge courts to limit the use of the phrase "prosecutorial misconduct" to intentional acts, rather than mere trial error. See ABA Resolution 100B (Adopted Aug. 9-10, http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/migrated/leadership/2010/annual/p dfs/100b.authcheckdam.pdf; NDAA, Resolution Urging Courts to Use "Error" Instead of "Prosecutorial Misconduct" (Approved April 10 2010), http://www.ndaa.org/pdf/prosecutorial_misconduct_final.pdf. A number of appellate courts agree that "prosecutorial misconduct" is an unfair phrase that should be retired. See, e.g., State v. Fauci, 282 Conn. 23, 917 A.2d 978, 982 n. 2 (2007); State v. Leutschaft, 759 N.W.2d 414, 418 (Minn. App.), review denied.

Because the prosecutor properly limited his argument to the evidence admitted, and his argument that the evidence was unrefuted has been previously approved by reviewing courts, this argument should be rejected.

A defendant bears the burden to prove both that the prosecutor's statements were improper and that they prejudiced him. <u>State v. Hoffman</u>, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). Comments alleged to be improper are reviewed in the context of the entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the court's instructions. <u>State v.</u> <u>Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85-86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), <u>cert denied</u>, 514 U.S. 1129 (1995). A prosecutor's remarks are not grounds for reversal even if they were improper if they were invited or provoked by the defense attorney and are in reply to his statements, unless the remarks are not pertinent, or are so prejudicial that a curative instruction would have been ineffective. <u>Id</u>. at 86.

Failure to object waives any claim of error unless the remark caused an "enduring and resulting" prejudice that could not have

²⁰⁰⁹ Minn. LEXIS 196 (Minn. 2009); <u>Commonwealth v. Tedford</u>, 598 Pa. 639, 960 A.2d 1, 28-29 (2008).

been neutralized by a jury instruction. <u>Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 86. Under this standard the defendant must show that (1) the prejudicial effect of the error on the jury could not have been cured by any instruction and (2) that the erroneous argument resulted in prejudice that "had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." <u>State v. Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d 741, 761, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

1. The Prosecutor Referenced Only The Evidence That Had Been Admitted.

A prosecutor may not argue facts that have not been admitted into evidence. <u>Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 88. The defendant identifies three comments made by the prosecutor which he alleges were improper for this reason. He alleges each of these comments referenced evidence the court struck; i.e. "that the trooper received or saw information from the department of licensing specific to this defendant..." 6/8/15 RP 73.

The first comment occurred at the end of the prosecutor's closing argument. The prosecutor was discussing the reason why the trooper's identification of the defendant was credible. He noted that at the time of the incident the trooper had a clear view of the defendant in his car. The defendant's odd behavior in the car was

memorable, making it easier for the trooper to recall the defendant.

6/9/15 RP 129-130.

The defendant challenges the argument that followed:

And he told you that after he terminated the pursuit, he looked at a photo, called the troopers down in Seattle to try and find him. But they were unable to assist as they were doing other things.

6/9/15 RP 129-130.

He also points to the prosecutor's rebuttal closing argument

wherein the prosecutor argued:

Also, I challenge you to remember what the testimony actually was about gathering of evidence, about what the trooper did. Remember what he did on the side of the road at 175th, what he testified to. Prior to calling up other troopers in King County to try to talk to the defendant, he was there looking at things. And that he's certain the defendant's the one.

6/9/15 RP 142.

The defendant argues these arguments violated the court's order striking evidence that the trooper identified the defendant from a photo, and was thus error. The first challenged argument came at the close of the prosecutor's initial remarks. Looking at a photo was one of the procedural steps that the trooper performed after the pursuit was ended. He did not argue that the trooper identified the defendant from the photo. Nor did he argue there was an inference that the trooper identified the defendant from a photo obtained from records maintained by the department of licensing. Taken in the context of the other remarks, looking at a photo was just one of the procedural steps that the trooper performed after the pursuit ended. Since there was evidence that the trooper looked at a photo, and the argument was confined to the court's limitation placed on that evidence, the prosecutor's argument was not error.

The argument in rebuttal was likewise limited to the procedural steps the trooper employed after the pursuit. In addition they were a pertinent reply to defense counsel's arguments challenging the trooper's identification of the defendant. Defense counsel challenged the trooper's identification by arguing that the trooper did not know certain physical characteristics of the driver of the eluding vehicle. 6/9/15 RP 136-137. Counsel then attacked the trooper's follow up investigation to identify the driver, arguing that the trooper failed to determine who the registered owner of the vehicle was or obtain a search warrant for the defendant's home. 6/9/15 RP 138-139. The prosecutor's argument was a pertinent response, confined to the limited evidence admitted regarding the procedural steps the trooper took to investigate the identification of the driver. Thus, even if this court should find the argument

improper, because it was invited by defense counsel and was a pertinent response, it is not grounds for reversal.

The defendant also argues the prosecutor erred when he argued the trooper was "the person who had the opportunity to observe him identified him twice. He says yes." 6/9/15 RP 130. The prosecutor did not argue that the trooper identified the defendant from a Department of Licensing photo. The trooper did identify the defendant twice in open court. 6/8/15 RP 52, 100. "He says yes" clearly referred to those two in court identifications. The prosecutor properly confined his argument to the evidence introduced in the trooper's testimony.

Finally, the defendant did not object to any of these arguments. If any of these arguments were improper, an instruction striking the argument and reminding jurors to consider only the evidence before it would have cured any prejudice. <u>Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 88. The defendant has therefore waived any claim of error resulting from those three arguments.

2. The Prosecutor Did Not Shift the Burden Of Proof or Comment on the Defendant's Right to Remain Silent.

A prosecutor's argument may not shift the burden of proof to the defendant. <u>State v. Thorgerson</u>, 172 Wn.2d 438, 466, 258 P.3d

43 (2011). Thus it is improper to argue that the defense did not present witnesses or explain the factual basis of the charge, or argue that the jury should find the defendant guilty simply because he did not present evidence to support his theory of the case. <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 150 Wn. App. 877, 885, 209 P.3d 553, <u>review denied</u>, 167 Wn.2d 1007 (2009).

Nor may the prosecutor comment on the defendant's right to remain silent. <u>State v. Ramirez</u>, 49 Wn. App. 332, 339, 742 P.2d 726 (1987). The test to determine whether the defendant's right to remain silent has been violated is whether the nature of the prosecutor's comment was such that the jury would "naturally and necessarily accept it as a comment on the defendant's failure to testify." <u>Id.</u> at 336.

The defendant argues that the prosecutor impermissibly shifted the burden of proof and commented on his right to remain silent when he argued the case was about "whether the defendant did it. And the unrefuted testimony is, yes, of course he did." 6/9/15 RP 130. An argument that the evidence is "unrefuted" does not necessarily shift the burden of proof or comment on the defendant's silence. <u>State v. Morris</u>, 150 Wn. App. 927, 931, 210 P.3d 1025 (2009), <u>State v. Crawford</u>, 21 Wn. App. 146, 152, 584 P.2d 442

(1978), <u>review denied</u>, 91 Wn.2d 1013 (1979). A prosecutor may state that certain evidence is undenied without reference to who could have denied it. <u>State v. Brett</u>, 126 Wn.2d 136, 176, 892 P.2d 29 (1995), <u>cert denied</u>, 516 U.S. 1121 (1996), <u>Ramirez</u>, 49 Wn. App. at 336, <u>Morris</u>, 150 Wn. App. at 931.

The argument that the "unrefuted testimony" was that the defendant was guilty of eluding is the same as the argument that the evidence is undenied. The prosecutor did not suggest who could have refuted the trooper's testimony. He made no specific mention that the defendant had not produced witnesses to refute the trooper's identification of him as the driver of the suspect vehicle. Nor did he argue that the defendant had failed to testify and explain why he was not the driver. For that reason the argument neither shifted the burden of proof nor did it comment on the defendant's right to remain silent.

Even if improper the defendant has not demonstrated that the passing reference was prejudicial. The court had instructed the jury that "[t]he defendant is not required to testify. You may not use the fact that the defendant has not testified to infer guilt or to prejudice him in any way." 1 CP 123. Jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions. In a similar circumstance the court

found no prejudice to the defendant arising from a prosecutor's argument that the evidence was undisputed. <u>State v. Ashby</u>, 77 Wn.2d 33, 38, 459 P.2d 403 (1969).

Moreover the defendant did not object to the remark. Counsel's failure to object suggests the remark was not critically prejudicial in the context of the entire trial. <u>State v. Swan</u>, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 617 (1990), <u>cert denied</u>, 498 U.S. 1046 (1991). Instead counsel made the tactical decision to argue that the prosecutor "did not mean that Mr. Ingalls had any burden of proof in this case." 6/9/15 RP 131. Under these circumstances, if the prosecutor's brief remark that the testimony was unrefuted was error, the defendant has not shown that the court's instruction did not cure any potential prejudice to him. An alleged error arising from the "unrefuted" remark has been waived.

Finally, the defendant argues that the cumulative effect of the prosecutor's errors violated his right to a fair trial. A defendant may be entitled to a new trial on the basis of cumulative errors which standing alone are not sufficient, but when combined deny a defendant a fair trial. <u>State v. Greiff</u>, 141 Wn.2d 910, 929, 10 P.3d 390 (2000). As discussed none of the arguments identified were erroneous. Even if the court finds the arguments improper, the

defendant has waived a claim of error because jury instructions that were either given or could have been given could neutralize any prejudice to the defendant.

The defendant argues this court should reverse, citing <u>State</u> <u>v. Reed</u>, 102 Wn.2d 140, 146-147, 684 P.2d 699 (1984), and <u>State</u> <u>v. Fleming</u>, 83 Wn. App. 209, 214, 921 P.2d 1076, <u>review denied</u>, 131 Wn.2d 1018 (1997). Each of these cases differs from the present case in that in each case the prosecutor directly commented on the defendant's failure to produce evidence or to testify. This court specifically rejected the argument in <u>Fleming</u> that the argument that the State's evidence was "undisputed" was improper. <u>Fleming</u>, 83 Wn. App. at 217, n. 3. For these reasons as well the court should reject the defendant's argument that cumulative error in the prosecutor's arguments entitles him to a new trial.

B. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN RESPONDING TO A JURY QUESTION.

The defendant argues that the court erred when it responded to an inquiry from the jurors by referring jurors back to the written and oral instructions previously given. He claims the jurors' question demonstrated that they were confused. He argues that

the court should have given the jurors the same limiting instruction it gave mid-trial as he had requested.

Generally a court has no duty to provide a jury with additional instructions after they have begun deliberating. <u>State v.</u> <u>Langdon</u>, 42 Wn. App. 715, 718, 713 P.2d 120, <u>review denied</u>, 105 Wn.2d 1013 (1986). Whether to answer a jury question is a matter within the court's discretion. <u>Id.</u> A court abuses its discretion when no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. <u>Greiff</u>, 141 Wn.2d at 921.

Where the original jury instructions are not ambiguous the court does not abuse its discretion by responding to a jury question by referring the jury back to the original instructions. <u>State v.</u> <u>Sublett</u>, 156 Wn. App. 160, 184, 231 P.3d 231 (2010), <u>affirmed</u>, 176 Wn.2d 58 (2012). However if the jury question identifies a legitimate ambiguity in the original instructions the court must clarify that ambiguity. <u>United States v. Southwell</u>, 432 F.3d 1050, 1053 (9th Cir. 2005).

A jury question itself does not raise the inference that the jury was confused, or that any confusion was not clarified before the jury reached its verdict. <u>State v. Ng</u>, 110 Wn.2d 32, 43, 750 P.2d 632 (1988). Rather courts have looked at whether the jurors'

question points out a real ambiguity in the original instructions to determine whether a clarifying instruction was necessary.

In <u>Young</u> a trial court erred when it did not clarify a term used in the original jury instructions when asked to do so by the jury. The term was a technical legal term that was not otherwise explained in the instructions. The definition of the term was critical to the jury's determination of whether to accept the defense theory of the case. <u>State v. Young</u>, 48 Wn. App. 406, 417, 739 P.2d 1170 (1987).

In <u>Southwell</u> a jury question revealed that the court's original instructions were ambiguous as to whether the jury had to be unanimous as to the affirmative defense if it was otherwise unanimous regarding guilt. Because unanimity as to both was required, and the original instructions did not make that clear, failure to clarify that point left open the possibility that the defendant had been convicted by a less than unanimous jury. <u>Southwell</u>, 432 F.3d at 1055. In that circumstance it was error to simply refer jurors back to the original instructions. <u>Id</u>. at 1052, 1055.

Unlike the instructions at issue in <u>Young</u> or <u>Southard</u> the question posed by the jurors in this case did not relate to an ambiguous and otherwise undefined legal concept. Rather it dealt

with the consideration of the evidence that had been admitted. The question posed by jurors asked the court to identify specific evidence that had been testified to. The previous instruction on that point was clear – the jury could consider all of the procedures the trooper performed, but could not infer that the defendant had been identified from department of licensing records. Simply restating the instruction as the defendant claims the court should have done would not have answered the juror's question.

The trial court was rightly concerned that any further instruction would be a comment on the evidence. 6/9/15 RP 150. The jury had already been instructed that the court was not permitted to make a comment on the evidence. The jury was further instructed to disregard any instruction that appeared to be such comment. CP 121. An additional instruction identifying specific testimony could lead to further confusion in light of this instruction.

The defendant argues that it was not likely that the jurors remembered the court's oral instruction, and for that reason the court should have given it again. To support this claim he asserts that neither the deputy prosecutor nor the trial judge recalled exactly what questions had been answered and when they were

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